












Clerk of the Circuit Court 
13th Judicial Circuit 

March 12,2019 

Mark Merry 
Assistant Director 
Florida Department of Financial Services 
Division of Accounting and Auditing 
200 East Gaines St. 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0353 

RE: 	Hillsborough County Article V Clerk of the Circuit Court Expenditure Compliance Audit 

Dear Mr. Merry: 

Our responses to the Observations and Recommendations in Audit Report 2019-34 are outlined below. We would like to 
thank your staff for the courtesy and professionalism extended to our staff during the course of this audit. 

Recommendation 1: During our testing of the Clerk's office administrative expenditures, we noted two (2) 
instances in which the expenditure, contrary to statutory guidance, had been allocated as a court cost, or was 
not authorized of record as a reasonable administrative support cost. 

• In CITY 16-17, the Clerk's office purchased a button making machine for $186 to be used to make 
pins and buttons for participants in training classes. 

• In CFY 16-17, the Clerk's office purchased 24 armless stack chairs for $1,817 for use in the 
public waiting area in a branch office. 

We recommend the Clerk's office ensure that its court-related expenditures are allowable according to Section 
28.35(3)(a), F.S. We also recommend that the Clerk's office reimburse the State for the expenditures related 
to the button making machine and chairs totaling $2,003, which were paid front the Clerks of the Court Trust 
Fund. 

Response: We agree that the chairs should have been purchased with County funding since they were for a public 
waiting area. However, we respectfully disagree that the button making machine was not a reasonable administrative 
support cost for court operations. The purpose of the buttons is to promote communication, awareness, and 
togetherness in training sessions. A well trained workforce is critical to the Clerk's mission. Furthermore, the 
benefits accrued by way of the Clerk's methods far exceeds the de minimis cost of the machine. In addition, the 
buttons help indicate to our customers, that we have a well trained workforce. Regardless, we will repay all of the 
funds by transferring $2,003 from our Board Funding Division of the General Fund to the Fine & Forfeiture Special 
Revenue Fund before the end of FY 2019. 

Recommendation 2: The Clerk's office Travel Policy states that the traveler will be reimbursed in accordance 
with section 112.061, F. S., which states that a traveler may be required to provide written justification that 
his or her use of hotel is the most economical choice available. The Travel Policy also states that the designated 
travel agency shall maintain a list of hotel accommodations offered at the government rate and that employees 
should stay in these hotels whenever possible. Employees, however, may also search for better rates on the 
Internet. 
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• For CFY 16-17, we noted one (I) expenditure related to attendance at a Courts and Justice Executive 
Forum in Utah. There was no justification provided or documentation showing that the $252 per 
night room rate was the government rate and that the hotel booked was from the list of hotel 
accommodations provided by the travel agency. The Clerk's office stated that the hotel 
accommodations were provided al the conference site and at the conference rate; however, no 
justification was provided indicating that this was the most economical choice. 

• For CFY 17-18, we noted expenditures for two (2) employees to attend the Tyler Connect 
Conferences in Boston, Massachusetts. There was no justification provided or documentation 
showing that the $221 per night room rate (excluding taxes) was the government rate and that the 
hotel booked was from the list of hotel accommodations provided by the travel agency. The Clerk's 
office stated that the hotel accommodations were provided at the conference site and at the 
conference rate; however, no justification was provided indicating that this was the most economical 
choice. 

We recommend the Clerk's office adhere to section 112.061, F. S., and its travel policy to ensure that 
transportation and lodging rates can be justified as the most economical choices. 

Response: The Clerk's Office believes that our travel policy does adhere to the Florida Statutes. When a 
conference rate is available, we encourage travelers to stay at the conference site to avoid additional travel 
costs (taxis, rental cars, etc.). These additional costs generally outweigh any room savings by staying at another 
hotel. 

Recommendation 3: The Clerk's office receives a monthly purchasing card statement that includes charges 
incurred by multiple individuals. We noted during our review of the statements that there was no 
documentation indicating a reconciliation of the charges to documentation supporting the charges. The 
Clerk's office stated that purchasing card statements are reviewed and approved by signature of the Chief of 
Staff; however, the December 2017, June 2017, and June 2018 statements did not show documentation of an 
approval signature or a reconciliation of the charges to the receipts supporting those charges. 

We recommend the Clerk's office conduct a monthly reconciliation of the P-Card statements to the supporting 
documentation for each charge to ensure that all charges are valid and authorized. 

Response: Our office does a monthly reconciliation of the P-Card statement to the support documentation. 
We will review our reconciliation documentation procedures. 

Recommendation 4: The Department of Financial Services' Uniform Accounting System Manual  outlines the 
uniform classification of accounts for units of local governments, and specifically, outlines the requirements 
for court-related account codes. These account codes are also used to prepare the annual Clerk of Court 
budget submitted to the CCOC. 

During our testing of the Clerk's administrative expenditures, we noted that 37 out of 40 expenditures sampled 
were charged to subaccount 604 - Clerk of Court Administration. In response to our inquiry, the Clerk's office 
stated that they began charging administrative costs to subaccount 604 in 2016 when the purchasing function 
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was centralized. Also, according to the Clerk's office, these expenditures are never allocated to the benefitting 

cost center in the general ledger. The Clerk's office does a manual calculation in Excel only for the purpose of 

preparing the State Expenditures Report. 

We recommend the Clerk's office record administrative expenditures in the general ledger using the 

expenditure account codes provided in the Uniform Accounting System Manual in a manner that properly 

allocates the expenditure to the cost center benefited. 

Response: Concur. We will begin implementing during this fiscal year. 

Recommendation 5: The Clerk's office overhead departments include Clerk's Administration, Human 

Resources, Mail Services & Purchasing, CCC Accounting, Records Management, Call Center, Clerk and 

Non-Departmental. The Clerk's office indicated that it allocates overhead department personnel costs 

monthly based on the budgeted FTE percentages per cost center rather than using a methodology based on 

the actual time and effort of the indirect employees. As a result, the Clerk's office was unable to provide 

documentation verifying the accuracy of the allocation percentage used. The Clerk's office stated that the 

basis for allocation uses FTE and historical trend analysis; however, no documentation was provided to 

support the historical trend analysis. 

Without accurate time-keeping of court and non-court related functions for indirect employees, the Clerk 

has no assurance that the calculated percentages used for budgeting purposes were accurate or need to be 

revised for the next budget cycle. 

We recommend the clerk establish a method for tracking employees' time and effort between court- related 

and non-court related activities, to ensure accuracy in the budgeting process and the appropriation of State 

funds. The methodology should include a basis for concluding whether the budgetary estimates are accurate. 

The Clerk's office might consider using a sampling method similar to the Title IV-D process that includes 

random moment sampling or a time study. 

Response: While we are open to studying other indirect cost allocation methodologies for some of our overhead 
departments rather than using FTEs for all of them, we do not agree that random moment sampling is an 
appropriate methodology for allocating indirect costs. Indirect cost allocation plans for local governments follow 
guidance in OMB Circular A-87 when developing their plans. Using financial transactions by fund to allocate 
accounting, boxes stored to allocate records management, and FTEs to allocate human resources are examples 
of standard methodologies. Whether obtaining this type of data is cost effective and whether it yields material 
differences as opposed to FTEs alone, will need to be assessed. Having all of the central service employees track 
their time between courts and non-courts activities on a daily basis is not reasonable due to the Florida 
Legislature's continuing inadequate funding of my office. 

Please contact Rick Van Arsdall, Chief Deputy, Finance & Budget at 307-7042 should you have any questions regarding 
these responses. 

Sincerely, 

Pat Frank 
Clerk of the Circuit Court/Comptroller 
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